

# Knowledge ~~of~~ Primary Prevention and Management of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertension among Secondary School Children in Morogoro Municipality, Morogoro Region-Tanzania

## Abstract

**Purpose:** Hypertension and diabetes used to occur in adults, but are now prevalent in children but there ~~is~~ are ~~not~~ enough information on student's knowledge on prevention and management of these conditions. Therefore, this study aimed at assessing knowledge on prevention and management of hypertension and diabetes among students in Morogoro Municipality.

**Methods:** A cross sectional study was conducted at Kihonda and SUA secondary schools among 253 randomly selected students. Data were collected using KAP questionnaire adapted from the FAO and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Science™ Version 20.

**Results:** Over 95% of the students have never tested their blood pressure and glucose, ~~and~~ 34.4% have never measured body weight before the study. Majority (75.5%) understood that hypertension and diabetes can be prevented through managing diet and physical activity (19.2%) while 18.7% mentioned engaging in physical activities only. Furthermore, 64.4% and 69.2% did not know the management ~~for~~ of diabetes and hypertension respectively. About 42% and 32% did not know any good and risk foods for a hypertension respectively. Also, 38.3% and 35.2% did not know the appropriate and risk foods for diabetes patients respectively. Knowledge on prevention of diabetes and hypertension was associated with age AOR 1.421(95%CI: 1.015-1.989), education level AOR (1.118, 95%CI: 1.039-3.355) and studying science subjects AOR 1.65 (95%CI: 1.306-1.692).

**Conclusion:** Majority of students have poor tendency of monitoring their health and low knowledge on prevention and management of diabetes and hypertension creating a need for improving knowledge as a window of opportunity for prevention of non-communicable diseases.

**Keywords:** Student's Knowledge, Diabetes and Hypertension, Prevention and Management

## Background

Non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular, diabetes, cancer and chronic respiratory diseases contribute to about a third of all deaths in the country and are a source of an increasing disability in Tanzania.<sup>1</sup> The burden of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases is high with the prevalence of hypertension been estimated to be around 26% and that of hyperglycemic disorders

**Commented [RA1]:** Rephrase this section for clarity. I also suggest "risk food" to be "food at risk"

**Commented [RA2]:** Include the p-values

**Commented [RA3]:** I don't think the exact word is "tendency" rather do not monitor their health, and this could be related to knowledge as well

(pre-diabetes and diabetes) being high at all ages with estimated prevalence of around 20%.<sup>2</sup> Likewise, the prevalence of elevated blood pressure was reported to be 18.3 %, of which 10.5% had prehypertension and hypertension being 7.8% among 6 to 16 years children in Mwanza, Tanzania.<sup>3</sup> This prevalence was obtained using adopted reference values for normal (BP<120/80 mmHg); prehypertension (BP 120/80 mmHg - 130/80 mmHg) and hypertension (BP ≥131/80 mmHg).<sup>4</sup> Another study done in Dar es Salaam reported that the proportion of children aged 6–17 years with elevated blood pressure was 15.2% whereby pre-hypertension was 4.4% and hypertension 10.8% using a classification of elevated blood pressure as average systolic or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 90th percentile for age, gender and height.<sup>5</sup> The prevalence of diabetes among children less than 15 years of age ranged from 10.1 to 11.9 per 100,000 children and the annual incidence of 1.8-1.9/100,000 children, with the highest incidence at the age of 10-14 years.<sup>6</sup> The morbidity and mortality project found that NCDs in Hai-Kilimanjaro, Dar es Salaam and Morogoro are the leading cause of death whereby the prevalence of NCDs and injuries between the ages of 6-15 years was 34% in Hai-Kilimanjaro, 34% in Dar es Salaam and 29% in Morogoro.<sup>7</sup> Although NCDs are reported to be the leading cause of death in these regions, awareness on diabetes was reported to be as low as 35.6%<sup>8</sup> implying that most of the individuals are not well informed about these conditions. This creates a need for improving knowledge on different aspects related to NCDs to prevent their occurrence and/or associated complications. Additionally, lack of knowledge about healthy and unhealthy behaviour's highlights the importance of carrying out regular surveillance for risk factors, and initiating programs for prevention amongst adolescents.<sup>9</sup>

The school provides good opportunities for health promotion among children making a significant contribution to improve health and behaviors of the children and adolescents to reduce the burden of diet related non-communicable diseases (DR-NCDs) in the future.<sup>10</sup> However, the level of knowledge among school students may be relatively low which creates a need to promote supportive environment and strategic delivery of health education to target risk behaviours among adolescents. More efforts are needed to increase knowledge with a great focus on risk factors and prevention.<sup>11</sup> Most lifestyle-related risk factors for DR-NCDs are laid down during childhood period<sup>12</sup> hence; actions are needed to prevent the establishment of risky behaviours from the early years of life by focusing on adolescents' knowledge about chronic diseases and healthy preventive practices. A review was conducted in Tanzania and found that there are some

initiatives to control the burden of NCDs in the country but there is a need to focus more on primary prevention.<sup>13</sup> Therefore, this study assessed knowledge on primary prevention and management of NCDs especially type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension among secondary school children as the bases for designing an implementable program to improve their knowledge on primary prevention rather than waiting for treatment.

### **Materials and Methods**

The study was conducted in Morogoro region due to a high rate of death and disabilities caused by NCDs and injuries among children.<sup>7</sup> The region was reported to be among the areas with high prevalence (29%) after Dar es Salaam (34%) and Kilimanjaro (34%). In addition, the high level of overweight/obesity was reported in Morogoro (37.5%) among women of reproductive age<sup>14</sup>, which may have also partly contribute to the increasing rates of overweight and obesity in children which are risk factors for diabetes and hypertension. The study involved school children from 10-17years in day schools to get the reality of children practices at school and home environments. In this case, two secondary schools were purposively selected due to the presence of school clubs. School clubs are considered as extracurricular activities conducted outside of the class sessions to provide students with a chance to gain and share experiences on different things. The students were classified into clusters based on their classes. Thereafter, form 1 to 3 classes were purposively selected to participate in the study due to fact that the study has a part of intervention that is supposed to be conducted after the baseline data hence, need students who are not finalist for continuity. Individual participants were randomly selected from the three clusters to get a total of 253 students to participate in the study. All students whose parents and themselves consented after getting enough information on the study procedures were included to the study.

### **Sample Size Determination**

Eligible students were randomly selected from forms 1 to 3 until a total of 253 students was recruited for the study. This sample size was obtained using the formula for prevalence studies.<sup>15</sup>

$$n = [z^2 * p * q] / d^2$$

Where: n = desired sample size

$Z$  = standard normal deviation set at 1.96 corresponding to 95% CI

$q = 1.0 - p$

$d$  = degree of accuracy desired (0.05)

$p$  = proportion of the target population with DR-NCDs

The proportion of the target population with DR-NCDs were represented by the prevalence of elevated blood pressure (that is  $p=18\%$ ) among primary school children with assumed response rate of 90%.<sup>3,16</sup> The prevalence of hypertension was used during sample size calculation as the study is dealing with NCDs specifically diabetes and hypertension.

### **Data Collection and Analysis**

Demographic information of the participants was collected using a pre-tested questionnaire which included age, class level, sex, family history of diabetes and hypertension etc. Face-to-face interviews were conducted among Secondary school children from the selected schools using a pre-tested questionnaire to get their current level of knowledge and practices on primary prevention and management of type 2 diabetes and hypertension. Information collected included but not limited to students' knowledge on the existence of NCDs, risk factors, prevention and management of diabetes and hypertension, foods to promote and those to be avoided or reduced for hypertensive and diabetes patients. The common practices to prevent (dietary intakes, physical activities etc.), tendency of testing blood pressure and glucose levels were assessed using KAP questionnaire which included both closed- and open-ended questions adapted from FAO<sup>17</sup> and modified to suit the student's contexts.

The questionnaire was validated during pre-testing of the tools where changes were incorporated for improvements. The interpretation of knowledge depended on the scores obtained, that is, those who answered correctly were classified as having adequate knowledge and graded with a score of 1 for each question which was then converted to percent. Hence, knowledge was classified as been better with a score of greater or equal to 75% correct, good between the score of 51% and 74% correct; average between 26% and 50% and poor knowledge less than or equal to 25%.<sup>18</sup> These scores were used as the bases for identifying knowledge gaps that need attention during the preparation of training program.

Data was cleaned, coded, entered and analysed using the Statistical Package for Social Science™ (SPSS™) Version 20. In this software, descriptive statistics such as frequencies, means and percentages were obtained for risk factors, demographic information and knowledge.

Associations among factors were obtained by binary logistic regression analysis involving univariate and multivariate analysis. The outcome, which was knowing the prevention for diabetes and/or hypertension, were dichotomized into two categories, which were either having or not having the knowledge on prevention of diabetes and/or hypertension. Multiple logistics regression by binary logistic was used to find associations of different factors with knowledge using stepwise backward elimination method to obtain crude and adjusted odd ratios for each factor that was associated with knowledge at  $p < 0.05$ .<sup>19,20</sup>

### **Ethical Considerations**

The study was approved by the Tanzanian National Institute of Medical Research (NIMR) and the permission for conducting an interview was provided by the respective administrators in Morogoro Municipal.

### **Results**

#### **Demographics Characteristics**

The results showed that Kihonda Secondary had 117 (46.2%) of participants while SUA Secondary accounted for 136 (53.8%) of the participants. Of the 253 individuals, 129 (51.0%) were females. The participants' education levels shown that 99(39.1%) were studying Form 1 while 80 (31.6%) were in Form 2 and 74 (29.2%) in Form 3 class. A notable majority of students 183 (72.3%) were studying science subjects. Seven (2.8%) of the participants had ever used alcohol whereby only 2 (0.8%) of participants reported to have used it within the past 12 months. Regarding family medical history, 63 (24.9%) of students have a family history of diabetes while 8 (3.2%) were unsure. Similarly, 107 (42.3%) of students have a family history of hypertension while 13 (5.1%) were uncertain about their family history of hypertension (Table 1).

**Table 1 Demographic Information of Participants (N=253)**

Variables	Frequency	Percent
-----------	-----------	---------

Kihonda Secondary	117	46.2
SUA Secondary	136	53.8
<b>Sex</b>		
Female	129	51.0
Male	124	49.0
<b>Education level</b>		
Form 1	99	39.1
Form 2	80	31.6
Form 3	74	29.2
<b>Studying science subject</b>		
Yes	183	72.3
No	70	27.7
<b>Have ever used alcohol</b>		
Yes	7	2.8
No	246	97.2
<b>Used alcohol within 12 months</b>		
Yes	2	.8
No	5	2.0
<b>Family history of diabetes</b>		
Yes	63	24.9
No	182	71.9
Don't Know	8	3.2
<b>Family history of hypertension</b>		
Yes	107	42.3
No	133	52.6
Don't Know	13	5.1

### Health monitoring practices

The results shown that, only 9(3.6%) of the participants have ever undergone blood pressure test but none of them were confirmed having high blood pressure. Also, a very limited number of participants 3(1.2%) reported having tested their blood glucose levels before the study but they were all having normal levels. Weight monitoring shown that, 121(47.8%) measured their weight rarely and 87(34.4%) had never measured it.

**Table 2 Monitoring body weight, blood glucose and pressure before the study**

Variables	Frequency	Percent
-----------	-----------	---------

<b>Ever tested blood pressure (N=253)</b>		
Yes	9	3.6
No	244	96.4
<b>Confirmed with high blood pressure (N=9)</b>		
No	9	3.6
Yes	0	0
<b>Ever tested blood glucose (N=253)</b>		
Yes	3	1.2
No	250	98.8
<b>Confirmed with high blood glucose (N=3)</b>		
No	3	1.2
Yes	0	0
<b>Frequency of measuring body weight (N=253)</b>		
Weekly	2	0.8
Monthly	43	17.0
Rarely	121	47.8
Never	87	34.4

#### Knowledge on prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension

The results show that 191(75.5%) of the students understood that hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus can be prevented. Among those who knew that the conditions can be prevented, 37(19.2%) mentioned the preventive measures to be eating well and doing physical activity while 26(18.7%) mentioned engaging in physical activities as the only preventive measure (Table 3).

**Table 3 Knowledge on Prevention of NCDs (Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension)**

Variables	Frequency	Percent
<b>Can hypertension and type 2 diabetes be prevented (N=253)</b>		
Yes	191	75.5
No	37	14.6
Don't Know	25	9.9
<b>How to prevent hypertension and type 2 diabetes (191)</b>		
Engaging in physical activities	36	18.7
Eating less sugar foods	26	13.5
Eating less fat foods	12	6.2
Eating less salt foods	1	0.5
Avoiding stress	15	7.8
Eating well and avoiding stress	3	1.6
Eat balanced diet	18	9.3
Eating low sugar, fat and salt foods	27	14.0
Eating low sugar foods and avoiding stress	5	2.6
Eating well and doing physical activity	37	19.2
Eating low fat and avoiding stress	3	1.6

**Commented [RA4]:** Moving forward, knowledge of the importance of regular health assessment may be included in this variable. From the preceding results, it can be inferred that majority might not know how important health monitoring is

Eating low fat and carbohydrate foods	3	1.6
Don't know	9	4.6

**Commented [RA5]:** Sum total of this is 195 and not 191, kindly cross-check

### Student's knowledge on management of diabetes mellitus and hypertension

Over half of the students 163(64.4%) declared that they do not know how diabetes is managed and for those who declared to know the managements, majority 67(74.4%) mentioned diet control whereby low fat and sugar foods are concerned. In addition, 175 (69.2%) of the students did not know how to manage hypertension of which 31(39.7%) mentioned dietary management to be the main method for preventing hypertension followed by those who mentioned physical activities 23 (29.5%) and those who mentioned avoiding stress 20 (25.6%) as a management (Table 4).

**Table 4 Knowledge on management of type 2 diabetes and hypertension**

Variables	Frequency	Percent
<b>Do you know how to manage type 2 diabetes mellitus (n=253)</b>		
Yes	90	35.6
No	163	64.4
<b>How is type 2 diabetes mellitus managed (n=90)</b>		
Using medication	2	2.2
Dietary management (low fat and sugar foods)	67	74.4
Physical activities	13	14.4
Medication and physical activity	1	1.1
Avoiding stress	1	1.1
Dietary management (low fat and sugar food) and physical activity	6	16.6
<b>Know how to manage blood pressure (n=253)</b>		
Yes	78	30.8
No	175	69.2
<b>How is blood pressure managed (n=78)</b>		
Dietary management (Low fat and salt foods)	31	39.7
Physical activities	23	29.5
Dietary management and Physical activity	2	2.6
Less fat and salt	1	1.3
Avoid stress	20	25.6
Eating garlic	1	1.3

**Commented [RA6]:** This tabulation is more than 100%

If the last item is n=6,  $6/90 \times 100 = 6.66$  i.e 6.7  
Total =99.9 apprx. 100%

Please cross check

### Knowledge on foods to promote and limit for hypertensive patients

Knowledge on diets for hypertensive patients indicated that 41.9% (n=106) of the students do not know any foods that are good for a hypertensive patient while 20.2% (n=51) mentioned good foods for hypertension to be fruits and vegetables. When the same students were asked on the foods that are not good for hypertension patient, 32% (n=81) did not know the foods completely while 32% (n=81) mentioned high fat foods to be bad for hypertensive individuals (Table 5).

**Table 5 Knowledge on diets for hypertension (n=253)**



Variables	Frequency	Percent
<b>Foods to be promoted for hypertensive patients</b>		
Cereals	20	7.9
Roots/tubers	5	2.0
Vegetables and/or fruits	51	20.2
Less fatty foods	5	2.0
fish and fish products	2	0.8
milk and milk products	1	0.4
Less sugar foods	32	12.6
Unrefined foods	3	1.2
Low sugar or fatty and salt foods	8	3.2
Honey	1	0.4
High protein food	8	3.2
Proteins, Vitamins, Carbohydrate	11	4.3
Don't know	106	41.9
<b>Foods to be limited for hypertension patients</b>		
Cereals	12	4.7
Roots/tubers	3	1.2
Vegetables and/or fruits	12	4.7
Less fat foods	1	0.4
Meat and meat products	5	2.0
Refined, too salty and sugar foods	7	2.8
High sugar foods	7	2.8
High fat foods	81	32.0
High sugar foods	1	0.4
High salt and fat foods	27	10.7
High salt	13	5.1
High protein food	3	1.2
Don't know	81	32.0

**Commented [RA7]:** I will suggest food that are at risk for hypertensive patients, this should also be consistency with the table description

#### Knowledge on foods to promote and limit for diabetes mellitus patients

About 38.3% (n=97) of the students did not know appropriate foods for diabetes patients while 30% (n=76) mentioned the appropriate foods to be vegetables and fruits. On the other hand, 35.2% (n= 89) of the students do not know foods to be limited to diabetes patients while 102 (40.3%) mentioned high sugar foods (Table 6).

**Commented [RA8]:** Be consistent with n or % in parenthesis

**Table 6 Knowledge on diets for diabetes mellitus patients**

Variables	Frequency	Percent
<b>Foods to be promoted <del>Good foods</del> for diabetes patients to consume</b>		
Cereals	18	7.1
Roots/tubers	5	2.0
Vegetables and/or fruits	76	30.0
Low fat foods	11	4.3
Meat and meet products	2	0.8
fish and fish products	6	2.4
milk and milk products	1	0.4
Milk, fruits, vegetables, legumes	2	0.8
Low salt foods	4	1.6
Low sugar and salt foods	4	1.6
Low sugar and fat	2	0.8
Protein, Vitamin, carbohydrates	13	5.1
Low fat and salt	5	2.0
Vegetables /fruits and carbohydrates	7	2.8
Don't know	97	38.3
<b>Foods which are limited for diabetes patient to consume</b>		
Cereals	11	4.3
Roots/tubers	4	1.6
Vegetables and/or fruits	10	4.0
High fat foods	9	3.6
Meat and meet products	3	1.2
fish and fish products	1	0.4
Too much fat and salt	5	2.0
High sugar foods	102	40.3
High energy foods (Refined foods)	4	1.6
High sugar foods or honey	2	0.8
High salt and sugar	4	1.6
Too much fat and sugar	9	3.6
Don't know	89	35.2

**Commented [RA9]:** Description of the table says "Foods to be promoted "

### Factors Associated with Students' knowledge on Prevention of Hypertension and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Multivariate analysis results shown that students' knowledge on prevention of diabetes and hypertension was increasing with age AOR 1.421(95%CI: 1.015-1.989), level of education AOR (1.118, 95%CI: 1.039-3.355) and studying science subjects AOR 1.65 (95%CI: 1.306-1.692)

even after adjusted for family history of diabetes and hypertension, sources of knowledge on health and sex of the student (Table 7).

**Table 7 Factors associated with students' knowledge on prevention of hypertension and Diabetes**

Variables	COR	95%CI	P-Value	AOR	95%CI	P-value
<b>Education level</b>						
Form 1	Reference					
Form 2	2.936	1.21 – 7.128	0.017	0.449	0.202-0.999	0.057
Form 3	4.125	1.77 – 9.59	0.001	1.118	1.039-3.355	0.000
<b>Age of students (continuous)</b>	1.907	1.713-2.153	0.005	1.421	1.015-1.989	0.040
<b>Studying science subject</b>						
No	Reference					
Yes	1.133	1.591-2.171	0.046	1.65	1.306-1.692	0.028
<b>Family history of diabetes and/or hypertension</b>						
No	Reference					
Yes	0.900	0.175-4.626	0.900	NA	NA	NA

**Note:** The model involved other factors but were not significant including students school, sources of health information and sex hence they were removed in the model. The association is significant at  $P < 0.05$ , NA=means not applicable in the multivariate analysis, CI= means confidence interval, AOR=Means adjusted Odd ratio and COR=Means crude odd ratio.

## Discussion

The current study aimed at assessing knowledge on prevention and management of hypertension and diabetes among Secondary school children in Morogoro Municipality. This acts as the basis for designing implementable education program for improving knowledge among school children as a window of opportunity for primary prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension in adulthood.

### Knowledge on Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension

Majority of students knew that type 2 diabetes and hypertension can be ~~prevented~~ ~~however,prevented: however,~~ there was low knowledge on the specific preventive measures whereby many students mentioned single action as a preventive measure. This is due to fact that when students were asked about the specific preventive measures for type 2 diabetes and hypertension, very few mentioned that both eating well and doing physical activities can prevent the conditions while others mentioned engaging in physical activities as the sole preventive measure for diabetes and hypertension. This implies that students do not know that causes of

hypertension and diabetes are multidimensional in a way that they cannot be prevented by addressing a single cause. Unadike and Chineye<sup>21</sup> in Nigeria support these findings that knowledge and awareness of certain aspects of diabetes among adolescents is poor; however, adequate health education had a positive impact on their knowledge and awareness. This creates a need for more health education to be offered to increase knowledge on all aspects of diabetes. Another similar study revealed that nearly about three-fourths of participants were not aware that diabetes can be controlled through a combination of physical exercise, regulated diet intake and recommended medication.<sup>22</sup> Another similar study was done in Tanzania among adults and found that majority of the participants know that diabetes can be prevented however, they mentioned either engaging in physical activities or eating balanced diet to be the determinants but majority could not consider the multisectoral nature of the problems.<sup>23</sup> Knowledge on prevention of diabetes and hypertension was increasing with age, level of education and studying science subjects even after adjusted for family history of diabetes and hypertension, sources of knowledge on health and sex of the students. Age of the students and level of education were determinants of knowledge on prevention of the conditions due to fact that as a student grows there is an increase in the level of education leading to more experience on the conditions as one may have got information from different sources. It may also be due to fact that these students are grown enough to be conscious to their health status. At the Form three level, the students may have been informed of the conditions in some science subjects such as Biology as it was also found that taking science subjects is associated with knowledge on prevention of type 2 diabetes and hypertension. A study done among adolescents aged 18 years old and above in Malaysia supports the current findings that knowledge and practice regarding hypertension were associated with age but not with other socio-demographic characteristics studied.<sup>24</sup> A similar study done in Sri-Lanka among school adolescents aged 13–17 years supports this study that a good knowledge about NCDs was associated with studying in a science stream.<sup>9</sup> It is also reported in Nepal that a higher grade of study was an independent predictor of a student's knowledge and good attitude with regards to different aspects of diabetes and hypertension.<sup>25</sup>

As the results and other findings reveal that studying science subject is influencing knowledge on prevention of diabetes, hypertension and NCDs generally, there is a possibility of leaving behind many students who are not studying science subjects. Hence, there is a need to develop a suitable

strategy that accommodates majority of the students in acquiring knowledge on prevention of the conditions regardless of their study subjects.

### **Knowledge on appropriate diets for hypertension and type 2 diabetes**

Specifically, the study revealed that a significant portion of the surveyed students have limited knowledge on the suitable foods for type 2 diabetes and hypertensive patients, with only a few mentioning vegetables and fruits as appropriate options. This low level of knowledge regarding dietary management for type 2 diabetes and hypertension among secondary school students has significant implications on prevention and management of the conditions.<sup>26,27</sup> One notable consequence is the potential inability of these students to effectively make appropriate dietary choices.<sup>28</sup> Given that dietary modifications play a crucial role in the management and prevention of these chronic conditions<sup>29</sup>, the absence of proper guidance regarding food selection can hinder students' ability to make informed decisions about their health.<sup>30</sup> To address this gap in knowledge and ensuring that students are equipped with enough dietary knowledge to provide appropriate dietary intake advice to individuals with type 2 diabetes and hypertension, targeted educational interventions may be necessary.<sup>31</sup> These interventions could include incorporating nutrition education into school curricula or implementing workshops and seminars specifically focused on healthy eating habits for prevention of these conditions. By enhancing students' understanding of the relationship between diet and chronic disease management, can empower them to offer valuable guidance and contribute to improved health outcomes within their communities.<sup>32</sup> Furthermore, it is essential for policymakers and educators to recognize the importance of early intervention in promoting healthy lifestyle behaviors among adolescents. By instilling knowledge about proper nutrition and disease prevention during adolescence, individuals can develop lifelong habits that support their overall health and well-being.<sup>33</sup> Therefore, investments in comprehensive health education programs that address not only dietary considerations but also other aspects of chronic disease prevention and management are warranted.

### **Student's knowledge on management of type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension**

Over half of the students declared that they do not know how type 2 diabetes mellitus and hypertension are managed. For those who declared to know, majority mentioned the management

to be diet control whereby low fat and sugar foods are concerned followed by those who declared that physical activity is a main method on preventing the conditions with few adding avoiding/reducing stress as the way of managing the conditions especially hypertension. This shows how students are lacking the pressing information on management of NCDs as they mentioned a single strategy as the sole way of managing without considering that management of the conditions need multisectoral approach as they have multiple causes as well. Knowledge on management of hypertension and diabetes among students who are expected to be the near future adults is very crucial as they may be living with these patients at their homes but not able to advise them accordingly while the community expects the educated individuals to be their reputable sources of information. Another similar study was done in Tanzania however, it was a community based focusing on adults which found that half of the respondents did not know how to manage diabetes while those who declared to know, mentioned diet as the only management strategy and very few mentioned physical activity alone.<sup>23</sup>

### **Health Monitoring Practices**

The current study revealed that students have no tendency of monitoring their health status as majority have never measured their blood glucose levels and pressure as well as body weight which is rarely measured or not done completely by most of the students. Lack of health status monitoring indicates poor self-care practices which may limit individuals from practicing some preventive measures including physical activities, diet control, weight control, and other life styles. Childhood practices determine the health status of an individual in adulthood. Literature reveals that some NCDs develop slowly and among them is hypertension which develops slowly and its pathogenesis begins in childhood.<sup>34</sup> As it has been reported that a large number of adults who suffer from hypertension worldwide, had high blood pressure since childhood and any child who develops high blood pressure during childhood have a great risk of developing hypertension in adulthood.<sup>34, 35</sup> Hence, knowledge and skills on monitoring and controlling of blood pressure during childhood is vital.<sup>36</sup> Additionally, cardiovascular and metabolic diseases in adulthood have been reported to originate during childhood therefore, frequent monitoring of the health status is very important for early detection of negative changes. In addition, about 97% of the participants had never voluntarily checked for hypertension. Similarly, 97.6% of the participants did not know if they had T2DM or not which may be attributed by limited health monitoring. This is

stressed by the same study that 98% of the participants had not voluntarily checked their blood glucose level.<sup>37</sup>

### **Conclusion and Recommendations**

Conclusively, there was low knowledge with regards to primary preventive and management of hypertension and diabetes among students. This was revealed in failure to understand the multidimensional nature of the conditions which made majority of them to think that prevention and management of the conditions can be done using a single factor and not in combinations. The low knowledge was also revealed in failure of most of the students to understand the foods that need to be promoted and those which need to be limited for the person with hypertension and diabetes. However, the level of knowledge was significantly influenced by age, level of study and studying science subject. Hence, there is a need for developing an education program that can accommodate majority of the students to acquire the knowledge without interrupting their daily curricula activities. This will provide equal opportunities for all students to get the knowledge on prevention of hypertension and diabetes for their own consumption and for their families and their community at large.

### **Abbreviations**

NCDs: Non-communicable diseases

DR-NCDs : Diet-related non-communicable diseases

BP: Blood pressure

T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus

### **Data Availability Statement**

The data supporting the outcome of this research work has been reported in this manuscript.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

### **References**

1. Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children [MoHCDGEC]. (2016). Strategic and action plan for the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases in Tanzania 2016 – 2020.
2. MOH. (2012). STEPS Survey of NCD Risk Factors. Dar es Salaam. Tanzania: Ministry of Health Community Development Gender Elderly and Children.
3. Sungwa EE, Kibona SE, Dika HI, Laisser RM, Gemuhay HM, Kabalimu TK, Kidenya BR. Prevalence and factors associated with elevated blood pressure among primary school children in Mwanza Region, Tanzania. *Pan African Medical Journal*. 2020 Nov 30;37(1).
4. Flynn JT, Kaelber DC, Baker-Smith CM, Blowey D, Carroll AE, Daniels SR, De Ferranti SD, Dionne JM, Falkner B, Flinn SK, Gidding SS. Clinical practice guideline for screening and management of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2017 Sep 1;140(3).
5. Muhihi AJ, Njelekela MA, Mpembeni RN, Muhihi BG, Anaeli A, Chillo O, Kubhoja S, Lujani B, Maghembe M, Ngarashi D. Elevated blood pressure among primary school children in Dar es salaam, Tanzania: prevalence and risk factors. *BMC pediatrics*. 2018 Dec;18:1-8.
6. Jasem D, Majaliwa ES, Ramaiya K, Najem S, Swai AB, Ludvigsson J. Incidence, prevalence and clinical manifestations at onset of juvenile diabetes in Tanzania. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*. 2019 Oct 1;156:107817.
7. World Health Organization. Non-communicable Diseases and Mental Health Cluster. (2008). WHO STEPS surveillance manual : the WHO STEPwise approach to chronic disease risk factor surveillance / Non-communicable Diseases and Mental Health, World Health Organization. World Health Organization.
8. Stanifer JW, Cleland CR, Makuka GJ, Egger JR, Maro V, Maro H, Karia F, Patel UD, Burton MJ, Philippin H. Prevalence, risk factors, and complications of diabetes in the Kilimanjaro region: a population-based study from Tanzania. *PloS one*. 2016 Oct 6;11(10):e0164428.
9. Gamage AU, Jayawardana PL. Knowledge of non-communicable diseases and practices related to healthy lifestyles among adolescents, in state schools of a selected educational division in Sri Lanka. *BMC public health*. 2018 Dec;18:1-9.



10. World Health Organization. (2016). Commission on ending childhood obesity. Report of the commission on ending childhood obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2016.
11. Oviya VJ, Priya VV, Gayathri R. Awareness of non-communicable diseases among the school students-A questionnaire study. *Drug Invention Today*. 2019 Jun 1;11(6).
12. Perera B, Østbye T, Fernando N, Abeygunawardena V, Ariyananda PL, Woods C. Health and health behaviour among late adolescents in Southern Sri Lanka. *Galle Medical Journal*. 2009 Sep 25;12(1).
13. Mayige M, Kagaruki G, Ramaiya K, Swai A. Non communicable diseases in Tanzania: a call for urgent action. *Tanzania Journal of Health Research*. 2011;13(5).
14. Ministry of Health, Community Development, Gender, Elderly and Children (MoHCDGEC) [Tanzania Mainland], Ministry of Health (MoH) [Zanzibar], Tanzania Food and Nutrition Centre (TFNC), National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Office of the Chief Government Statistician (OCGS) [Zanzibar] and UNICEF. 2018. Tanzania National Nutrition Survey using SMART Methodology (TNNS) 2018. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: MoHCDGEC, MoH, TFNC, NBS, OCGS, and UNICEF
15. Fisher KB, Davis M, Strauss MA, Yahil A, Huchra JP. Clustering in the 1.2-Jy IRAS Galaxy Redshift Survey–II. Redshift distortions and. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*. 1994 Apr 15;267(4):927-48.
16. Macfarlane SB. Conducting a descriptive survey: 2. Choosing a sampling strategy. *Tropical doctor*. 1997 Jan;27(1):14-21.
17. FAO. (2018). Dietary Assessment: A resource guide to method selection and application in low resource settings. Rome
18. Dhyani V, Mahantashetti NS, Ganachari MS, Kambar S, Ghatnatti V. Awareness of gestational diabetes mellitus among pregnant women attending a tertiary health center. *Indian Journal of Health Sciences and Biomedical Research KLEU*. 2018 Jan 1;11(1):51-5.
19. Harrell FE. Regression modeling strategies. R package version. 2012:6-2.
20. Wynants L, Collins GS, Van Calster B. Key steps and common pitfalls in developing and validating risk models. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*. 2017 Feb;124(3):423-32.
21. Unadike BC, Chineye S. Knowledge, awareness, and impact of diabetes among adolescents in Uyo, Nigeria. *African Journal of Diabetes Medicine*. 2009 May;3:12-4.

22. Akter F, Rashid SM, Alam N, Lipi N, Qayum MO, Nurunnahar M, Mannan A. Knowledge, attitude and practice of diabetes among secondary school-going children in Bangladesh. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2022 Nov 17;10:1047617.
23. Msollo SS, Shausi GL, Mwanri AW. Awareness on type 2 diabetes mellitus does not necessarily translate to a better knowledge and practices on prevention and management among adults. *Tanzania Journal of Agricultural Sciences*. 2023;22(2):192-205.
24. Buang NF, Rahman NA, Haque M. Knowledge, attitude and practice regarding hypertension among residents in a housing area in Selangor, Malaysia. *Medicine and pharmacy reports*. 2019 Apr;92(2):145.
25. Sitaula D, Shrestha N, Timalsina S, Pokharel B, Sapkota S, Acharya S, Thapa R, Dhakal A, Dhakal S. Knowledge, attitude and practice regarding diabetes and hypertension among school students of Nepal: a rural vs. urban study. *Plos one*. 2022 Aug 31;17(8):e0270186.
26. Joseph T. *Effectiveness of a Structured Teaching Program on Knowledge and Practice Regarding Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Among Adolescents in Selected Schools of Kerala* (Doctoral dissertation, Rajiv Gandhi University of Health Sciences (India)).
27. Sami W, Ansari T, Butt NS, Ab Hamid MR. Effect of diet on type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review. *International journal of health sciences*. 2017 Apr;11(2):65.
28. Ibrahim R. *Diet Quality Associated with Risk of Non-communicable Diseases and Nutrient Inadequacy among Female University Students using the Global Diet Quality Score* (Doctoral dissertation).
29. Vassiliou VS, Tsampasian V, Abreu A, Kurpas D, Cavarretta E, O'Flaherty M, Colombet Z, Siegrist M, De Smedt D, Marques-Vidal P. Promotion of healthy nutrition in primary and secondary cardiovascular disease prevention: a clinical consensus statement from the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*. 2023 Jun;30(8):696-706.
30. Lekše R, Godec D, Prosen M. Determining the impact of lifestyle on the health of primary school children in slovenia through mixed membership focus groups. *Journal of Community Health*. 2023 Oct;48(5):857-69.
31. Lacey H, Jain N, Sugimoto M, Shimato M, Zhou SJ, Pirags V, Shakya R, Karmacharya RM, Baral PP. Advancing diabetes primary care education and knowledge in Nepal: A scoping review and case study discussion. *Primary Care Diabetes*. 2024 Feb 1;18(1):25-36.

32. Wang S, Yan D, Hu X, Liu J, Liu D, Wang J. Comparison of attitudes toward the medical student-led community health education service to support chronic disease self-management among students, faculty and patients. *BMC Medical Education*. 2023 Jan 11;23(1):17.
33. Zakiah S, Toaha A, Abri N, Wahyutri E. The Effect of Nutrition Education on Knowledge, Attitudes, and Iron Intake in Adolescent Girls. *Journal of Health and Nutrition Research*. 2023 Nov 30;2(3):131-9.
34. Urrutia-Rojas X, Egbuchunam CU, Bae S, Menchaca J, Bayona M, Rivers PA, Singh KP. High blood pressure in school children: prevalence and risk factors. *BMC pediatrics*. 2006 Dec;6:1-7.
35. Bassareo PP, Mercurio G. Pediatric hypertension: An update on a burning problem. *World journal of cardiology*. 2014 May 5;6(5):253.
36. Tringler M, Rodriguez EM, Aguera D, Molina JD, Canziani GA, Diaz A. High blood pressure, overweight and obesity among rural scholars from the vela project: a population-based study from South America. *High Blood Pressure & Cardiovascular Prevention*. 2012 Mar;19:41-6.
37. Gonde LL, Chimbari MJ. Community awareness of diet needs associated with hypertension and type 2 diabetes mellitus in Hatcliffe, Zimbabwe. *BMC Public Health*. 2019 Dec;19:1-6.